Evaluation and optimisation of the colorectal cancer screening programme

To: the State Secretary for Health, Welfare and Sport No. 2022/31e, The Hague, December 14, 2022

Health Council of the Netherlands



contents

	Sur	nmary	3	
01	Introduction			
	1.1	Motivation	6	
	1.2	Request for advisory report	6	
	1.3	Methodology	6	
	1.4	Reading guide	7	
02	Col	orectal cancer screening programme	8	
	2.1	Numbers on colorectal cancer	9	
	2.2	Progression of colorectal cancer, early detection and treatment	9	
	2.3	National screening programme	10	

03	Evaluation				
	3.1	Reducing mortality as a result of colorectal cancer	14		
	3.2	Risk-benefit ratio	16		
	3.3	Cost effectiveness	18		
	3.4	International comparison	19		

04	Pot	ential improvements	20	
	4.1	Cut-off value	21	
	4.2	Interval	22	
	4.3	Finishing age	23	
	4.4	Starting age	26	
	4.5	Risk stratification	27	
	4.6	Other potential improvements	31	

05	Advice				
	5.1.	Evaluation	34		
	5.2	Potential improvements	35		
	5.3	Recommendations	36		

References



2.4 Hereditary and familial colorectal cancer

summary

At the request of the State Secretary for Health, Welfare and Sport, the Health Council of the Netherlands has conducted an evaluation of the colorectal cancer screening programme and reviewed what improvements could be made.

Colorectal cancer screening for all 55-75-year-olds since 2019

Colorectal cancer is a common form of cancer, with nearly 13,000 people being diagnosed in 2021. Since the early stage of colorectal cancer is clearly identifiable and develops slowly, the disease can be detected and treated at this early stage. Population screening for colorectal cancer was introduced in 2014. The programme was introduced gradually because the target group was too large to allow everyone to start at the same time. Implementation was completed in 2019, and since then, everyone between the ages of 55 and 75 has been given the opportunity to be screened once every two years. The screening relies on a stool test that is used to look for blood in faeces. If the test indicates higher haemoglobin levels than the cut-off value, this will be followed by referral for a colonoscopy. This colon examination detects and removes adenomas (an early stage of colorectal cancer) and colorectal cancer. In 2021, over 1.6 million people made use of the population screening, and colorectal cancer was detected in more than 2,700 participants.

Population screening appears to be effective

The ultimate goal of the population screening is to reduce mortality as a result of colorectal cancer. It has not yet been possible to demonstrate such a decrease, because the screening programme was only fully implemented a short time ago, and it takes years before an impact of population screening on mortality can be demonstrated. However, there are results from the trial screening programme, the current screening programme and modelling that indirectly show that the programme prevents mortality as a result of colorectal cancer. Based on those data, the Committee expects that the intended goal will be achieved in due course. The Committee considers the risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme to be favourable: the benefit (preventing death) outweighs the risks (such as unnecessary referrals for colonoscopies where no relevant abnormalities are detected and the associated burden and concern).

The current programme should not be modified at this stage

The Committee has assessed whether further improvement of the screening programme can be achieved through calibration of the cut-off value, the interval or the age limits of the target group or by applying risk stratification (distinguishing between subgroups).



This appeared not to be the case in the current situation. There are insufficient persuasive arguments in favour of modifying the screening programme at this time, given that the riskbenefit ratio is favourable under the current setup and the screening programme is still being developed. This does preclude possible improvements being made in the future. In view of this aspect, the Committee has made a number of recommendations.

Review of potential improvements in the future

The Committee recommends carrying out a review into offering a one-off stool test (FIT) for participants around the age of 50, prior to the regular screening. In the opinion of the Committee, this may have health benefits for participants with colorectal cancer or an early stage of colorectal cancer. A trial screening programme may show to what extent health gains are indeed achieved and how significant the disadvantages are. The Committee recommends that the trial screening programme be carried out at a regional level and it should not be offered nationwide until the results are in. After all, a one-off test for participants around the age of 50 may yield insufficient health benefits and entail too many disadvantages as well as an unfavourable risk-benefit ratio.

The Committee also recommends that a review be carried out into risk stratification, so the advantages and disadvantages, participation rates, cost effectiveness and feasibility can be determined. A partial study into these aspects is already underway: Erasmus MC is reviewing various screening intervals depending on the haemoglobin levels detected in faeces. The Committee expects risk stratification to have added value in the future. It is, however, crucial that a broad discussion be conducted beforehand to determine what the targets should be and what is regarded as an improvement to the risk-benefit ratio.

Finally, the Committee recommends continued investment in increasing the participation rate

among the youngest target groups and among people with a low socio-economic status.

01 introduction



1.1 Motivation

In 2009, the Health Council of the Netherlands advised biennial screening of men and women between the ages of 55 to 75 for colorectal cancer.¹ This screening programme was started in 2014. The government believes that it is important to regularly evaluate cancer screening programmes.

1.2 Request for advisory report

The State Secretary for Health, Welfare and Sport asked the Health Council of the Netherlands to evaluate the first six years of the colorectal cancer screening programme and to assess the benefit, risks, effectiveness and cost effectiveness of the programme. In addition, the State Secretary asked the Health Council of the Netherlands to look at how the outcomes of the colorectal cancer screening programme could be improved. The Health Council of the Netherlands was specifically asked to report on the following:

- potentially lowering the age of participation from 55 to 50 years of age;
- the benefit and desirability of risk stratification with the aim of improving the risk-benefit ratio for specific groups;
- an assessment of promising medium- and long-term developments in medical technology.

The request from the State Secretary for an advisory report can be found at www.gezondheidsraad.nl. The Committee on Population Screening considered the State Secretary's questions. The composition of the Committee can be found at the back of this advisory report.

1.3 Methodology

The Committee based its advice on data and reports from the national colorectal cancer screening programme, and on modelling research carried out by Erasmus MC. In addition, peer-reviewed publications from scientific journals were also used. A number of experts were consulted for specific information about colorectal cancer and the screening programme (a list of these experts can be found at the back of this advisory report). The Committee also arranged a hearing with representatives from 12 organisations. KWF Kankerbestrijding (KWF Dutch Cancer Society), Maag Lever Darm Stichting (Gastroenterological Foundation), Nederlandse Vereniging Maag Darm Leverartsen (Dutch Society for Gastroenterologists), Stichting Darmkanker Nederland (Foundation Bowel Cancer Netherlands), Vereniging zonder winstoogmerk Stop Darmkanker (Non-profit association Stop Bowel Cancer Belgium), Bevolkingsonderzoek Nederland (Population Screening Netherlands), laboratories that process FIT tests, Nederlandse Vereniging voor Heelkunde (Dutch Society for Surgery), Nederlandse Vereniging voor Radiologie (Dutch Society for Radiology), Nederlandse Vereniging voor Pathologie (Dutch Society for Pathology), Verpleegkundigen en Verzorgenden Nederland (Nurses and Carers Netherlands) and Vereniging Klinische Genetica Nederland (Dutch Society for Clinical Genetics). During this hearing, the representatives shared their perspectives with the Committee and the Committee took these perspectives into account in their advisory



report. The report of the hearing can be found on the website of the Health Council of the Netherlands.

1.4 Reading guide

Chapter 2 describes the setup of the current colorectal cancer screening programme. In Chapter 3, the Committee evaluates the achievements of the screening programme and discusses the benefits, risks and cost effectiveness of the current programme. Chapter 4 discusses potential improvements, such as possible changes to the cut-off value and screening age range, and the use of risk stratification. In Chapter 5, the Committee formulates its advice.



02 colorectal cancer screening programme

Colorectal cancer is very common, with nearly 13,000 people being diagnosed in 2021. Since the early stage of colorectal cancer is clearly identifiable and develops slowly, the disease can be detected and treated early. The national colorectal cancer screening programme was introduced in 2014 and has been fully implemented since 2019. All men and women between the ages of 55 and 75 are invited to be screened once every two years. In 2021, over 1.6 million people were screened and colorectal cancer was detected in more than 2,700 participants.

2.1 Numbers on colorectal cancer

Cancer can develop in the small intestine, the large intestine and the rectum. Colorectal cancer is the collective term used for both cancers of the large intestine and rectum. This report focuses on population screening for colorectal cancer.

Colorectal cancer is a common form of cancer. In 2021, nearly 13,000 people were diagnosed with colorectal cancer and more than 4,500 people died of it.^{2,3} The 10-year prevalence (all people diagnosed with colorectal cancer in the past 10 years and still alive) was over 82,000 people in early 2021.³ On average, 67% of patients were still alive after 5 years (five-year survival).³ Colorectal cancer most commonly occurs in older people: more than half of patients are aged 70 or over.³ Compared to other types of cancer, the number of new patients with colorectal cancer (12,900) in 2021 was slightly lower than the number of new patients with

breast cancer (15,700), skin cancer (14,900), lung cancer (14,700) and prostate cancer (13,700).⁴

2.2 Progression of colorectal cancer, early detection and treatment

Colorectal cancer develops over many years and usually starts with the development of a benign tumour. Such tumours are called adenomas and are common. On average, approximately 30% of people have one or more adenomas; this percentage increases with age.⁵ In most cases, an adenoma will not progress at all. However, if it does progress, then an advanced adenoma will develop. This can then eventually develop into colorectal cancer.

Because colorectal cancer often develops slowly and has a clear early stage in the form of adenomas, colorectal cancer can be detected and treated early. When (advanced) adenomas are detected, they are removed so that they can no longer develop into colorectal cancer.

The treatment for colorectal cancer consists of surgical removal of the tumour, often including removal of a (large) part of the bowel, sometimes combined with chemotherapy, immunotherapy or radiotherapy (radiation).



2.3 National screening programme

The national colorectal cancer screening programme was introduced for people between the ages of 55 and 75 in 2014, on the advice of the Health Council of the Netherlands¹. The screening programme was introduced in phases because it was not possible to start all age groups in one go, due to the large number of people eligible for the screening programme. Over a five-year period, new age groups were added to the screening programme each year until it covered the entire target population by the end of 2019. This means that since then, all people between the ages of 55 and 75 are invited every two years to take part in the screening programme. Participants are offered a stool test that is used to look for blood in their stool (faeces). If there is more blood in the stool than a predetermined limit (cut-off value), follow-up tests will be carried out to determine whether there is colorectal cancer or advanced adenomas.

2.3.1 Stool test

As adenomas or colorectal cancer can lead to loss of blood, the presence of blood in stool is an indicator of the presence of adenomas or colorectal cancer. A faecal immunochemical test (FIT) is used in the screening programme. Participants receive a test tube through the post for use at home. Participants can collect a small amount of stool (a sample) to send off for testing. The stool is then tested in a laboratory to determine whether there is any haemoglobin (Hb), a protein found in blood, in the stool.

This is done using a test fluid. The test fluid contains antibodies that bind to Hb, making the fluid cloudy. The cloudier the fluid becomes, the more Hb is present. A test result is considered to be 'positive' (an unfavourable result) within the screening programme if the Hb concentration is higher than 47 micrograms per gram of faeces (μ g Hb/g faeces). This value is referred to as the cut-off value.

2.3.2 Follow-up tests

If the stool test yields a positive result, the participant is referred for a colonoscopy. A colonoscopy is a visual examination of the entire large intestine. It is a onerous medical procedure because, prior to the examination, the bowel must be cleared by using a strong laxative and a certain fasting period is required. The procedure is also often perceived as painful and unpleasant. In addition, there is a small to very small risk of complications (such as bleeding or perforation of the colon), and, in rare cases, a colonoscopy can cause death. The aim of the procedure is to detect adenomas and colorectal cancer. If one or more adenomas are detected, they will usually be removed immediately. After a few years, another colonoscopy will be performed to see if new adenomas have developed. Some large adenomas and most tumours cannot be immediately removed. A biopsy is first taken and examined. Depending on the result, follow-up examinations (e.g. a CT scan) will be performed or a treatment plan will be drawn up. If the colonoscopy does not detect any adenomas or colorectal tumours, the participant does not need to



participate in the screening programme again for the next 10 years, as colorectal cancer takes many years to develop. The optimal length of time between colonoscopy and the following screening round is currently being researched.

2.3.3 Scope of the screening programme

More than a million people take part in the colorectal cancer screening programme every year, and a few thousand are then diagnosed with colorectal cancer. In 2021, more than 2.3 million people were invited to take part and over 1.6 million participated in the screening programme (see Figure 1).⁶ Of those 1.6 million people, more than 74,000 (over 4%) got a positive (unfavourable) test result (the concentration of Hb in the stool was higher than the cut-off value). They were referred for a colonoscopy, which was performed in almost 85% of cases. Not everyone who qualifies for a colonoscopy based on the stool test undergoes this procedure. This is partly because people opt out themselves, but there are also medical reasons not to perform the procedure. Colorectal cancer was detected in 4.5% of people who underwent a colonoscopy (over 2,700 cases), while advanced adenomas were found in 27% (nearly 17,000 cases). This means that 1.2% of all participants have a finding that is considered relevant (colorectal cancer or an early stage thereof).



Figure 1 Scope of the colorectal cancer screening programme in 2021.⁶ The number of participants in the various phases of the screening programme is shown.



Colorectal cancer, or an early stage thereof, is found in 1.2% of participants ning programme again for the next 10 years, as

2.4 Hereditary and familial colorectal cancer

There are certain groups that have are at a higher than average risk of colorectal cancer. These include people with Lynch Syndrome (an inherited condition that greatly increases the risk of colorectal cancer) and with Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (an inherited condition in which hundreds of polyps occur in the large intestine from a young age, also greatly increasing the risk of colorectal cancer).^{7,8} In addition, the risk of colorectal cancer may be increased in people with a first- or second-degree relative who has, or has had, colorectal cancer (at a younger age). Early detection of colorectal cancer in these groups falls within standard care and is therefore outside the scope of the screening programme and this advisory report.

03 evaluation





The ultimate goal of the population screening is to reduce colorectal cancer mortality. It is not yet possible to demonstrate such a decrease, because the screening programme was only fully implemented a short time ago, and it takes years before an impact of population screening on mortality can be demonstrated. However, results from the trial screening programme, the current screening programme and modelling indirectly show that the programme prevents colorectal cancer mortality. Based on these data, the Committee expects that the intended goal of the screening programme will be achieved in due course. Based on the current situation, the Committee considers the risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme to be favourable.

3.1 Reducing mortality as a result of colorectal cancer

The ultimate goal of the colorectal cancer screening programme is to reduce colorectal cancer mortality. This goal can be achieved firstly by detecting and treating colorectal cancers at an early stage and secondly, by preventing colorectal cancer from developing. The chance of survival is greater if colorectal cancer is detected at an early stage, and detection and removing adenomas prevents colorectal cancer from developing. It takes at least 7 years before an effect of screening on mortality as a result of colorectal cancer can be demonstrated.⁹ As the screening programme was introduced in 2014 and was not fully implemented until 2019, it is not yet possible at this point to establish whether the original goal will be met. However, there are three indicators that do indirectly

show that the screening programme is preventing colorectal cancer and deaths from it.

The first indicator is the outcome of the trial colorectal cancer screening programme carried out between 2006 and 2014, which took the form of a scientific study. The results of this study have not yet been published. The study compared data from over 15,000 screened people with those of over 4 million unscreened people over a follow-up period of almost 13 years. The early years of the study saw an increase in the number of colorectal cancer cases. This is because the initial screening of all participants detected pre-existing adenomas and colorectal cancers (a so-called 'prevalence round'). In the following years, the number of cases decreased and showed that screening can prevent the development of colorectal cancer (hazard ratio (HR) 0.78; confidence interval 0.68-0.90) and reduce colorectal cancer mortality by a factor of 2.5 (HR 0.39; confidence interval 0.29-0.53). While these results are promising, there is an important caveat: the trial is subject to bias because the screened population was healthier than the control group. The magnitude of the effects of screening may therefore have been slightly overestimated. In addition, the type of FIT and cut-off value used in the trial screening programme were different from the current screening programme, and the screening age was 50-75 years. Two other observational studies, conducted in Italy, on the effect of screening with the FIT and colorectal cancer mortality are also available.^{10,11} These studies also saw a beneficial effect (36% and 41% reduction in mortality), but these were smaller than the effect in the Dutch study (61%). This can possibly be explained by the differences between the studies. In the Italian studies, the number of participants was smaller, the participation rate was lower, there was a shorter follow-up period and higher cut-off values were used.

Hazard ratio and confidence interval

The hazard ratio represents the ratio of the risk of a given outcome (in this case, of developing or dying from colorectal cancer) between two groups (here, the screened versus the unscreened group). The confidence intervals are also included. A confidence interval is a statistical measure that indicates how likely a particular research outcome is. In this advisory report, the 95% confidence interval is used in each case, meaning that with 95% certainty, the outcome actually lies between the values of the confidence interval.

In addition to the trial screening programme, there is also evidence from the current screening programme suggesting that screening may, in the longer term, reduce deaths from colorectal cancer. The current screening programme shows that screening usually detects colorectal cancer at an early stage.¹² The chance of cure and survival is greater if colorectal cancer is detected earlier. In addition, it has been shown that the annual number of new cases of colorectal cancer (incidence) has decreased since the introduction of population screening. This decrease in incidence can also be seen in late-stage colorectal cancers, and moreover, the incidence was lower than the expected incidence if no screening were to be performed.^{9,13} A third indicator is provided by modelling research (costeffectiveness analysis), which estimated the effects of colorectal cancer screening. The results suggest that the screening programme prevents colorectal cancer (possibly up to about 4,500 cases by 2044) and reduces mortality from it (possibly up to about 3,000 cases by 2044).¹⁴ However, this data should be interpreted with caution as assumptions have been made in the model and the results will have wide margins of uncertainty due to the long time period modelled.

Distribution of stages of colorectal cancer

The stage is a measure of the severity of the disease, which is determined by the size of the tumour and the presence of metastases. In stage I, the tumour is confined to the intestinal wall. In stage II, the tumour has grown through the intestinal wall but has not spread to the lymph nodes. Stage III involves a tumour with growth through the intestinal wall and local lymph node metastases and stage IV involves a tumour with growth through the intestinal wall and IV colorectal cancers are generally more difficult to treat and result in a higher burden of disease and mortality rate than stage I and II colorectal cancers (early-stage colorectal cancer). Stage III and IV colorectal cancers.

3.2 Risk-benefit ratio

There are advantages (benefits) and disadvantages (risks) associated with the screening programme. It is important that the risk-benefit ratio is favourable: participants in the screening programme should not suffer more harm than benefit from participation. The main benefit is that the screening programme prevents colorectal cancer and deaths from it (see 3.1). To assess the risk-benefit ratio, the committee additionally looked at various outcomes (see outcome data box) and disadvantages of the screening programme. Approximately 70% of people who are invited for screening for the first time decide to take part in the screening programme.⁶ This is similar to the breast cancer screening programme.¹⁵ Once people have decided to participate, they generally go on to participate in subsequent screening rounds. Participation in follow-up rounds (repeat participation) is therefore high, at around 90%. Other outcomes also show a clear difference between the first screening round and follow-up rounds (see Table 1). This is because the first round is a prevalence round, which detects pre-existing adenomas and colorectal cancers.

Men	1 st round	2 nd round	3 rd round	4 th round	Women	1 st round	2 nd round	3 rd round	4 th round
Average age (in years)	64.2	64.6	68.5	71.1	Average age (in years)	64.1	64.6	68.5	71.2
Participation*	100%	90.9%	91.4%	91.5%	Participation*	100%	91.8%	91.2%	90.5%
Referral rate	7.6%	5.0%	5.0%	5.3%	Referral rate	4.8%	3.4%	3.5%	3.8%
Detection rate of colorectal cancer per 1,000 participants	5.2	2.2	2.4	2.6	Detection rate of colorectal cancer per 1,000 participants	3.0	1.5	1.7	1.9
Detection rate of advanced adenomas per 1,000 participants	29.8	14.7	13.5	12.7	Detection rate of advanced adenomas per 1,000 participants	14.8	8.0	7.9	8.7
Colorectal cancer PPV#	8.6%	5.2%	5.5%	5.8%	Colorectal cancer PPV#	7.9%	5.3%	5.8%	5.9%
Advanced adenoma PPV#	49.0%	34.5%	31.4%	30.8%	Advanced adenoma PPV [#]	39.5%	27.7%	26.4%	27.6%
Colorectal cancer NN to scope [†]	11.6	19.2	18.2	17.2	Colorectal cancer NN to scope [†]	12.7	18.9	17.2	17.0
Advanced adenoma NN to scope ^s	2.0	2.9	3.2	3.2	Advanced adenoma NN to scope ^s	2.5	3.6	3.8	3.6
Colorectal cancer sensitivity [§]	86.7%	74.3%	77.1%	-	Colorectal cancer sensitivity [§]	80.9%	71.4%	71.3%	-

Table 1 Screening programme outcomes in participants who completed one or more screening rounds, disaggregated by sex¹⁸

* As this table only includes participants who actually participated in one or more screening rounds, in this case participation in the first round is by definition 100%.

* PPV: positive predictive value of the FIT

⁺ Number needed to scope to detect 1 case of colorectal cancer

^s Number needed to scope to detect 1 case of advanced adenoma

[§] The sensitivity is calculated up to and including the 3rd round; no data are yet available for the 4th round.

The follow-up rounds principally detect adenomas and colorectal cancers that developed after the first screening round. Therefore, the referral rate, detection rate, positive predictive value and sensitivity are higher in the first round than in follow-up rounds. These rates increase again in later follow-up rounds, as the incidence of colorectal cancer increases with older age. The number needed to scope (NNscope) is higher in follow-up rounds than in the first round, as successful screening requires more and more people to undergo a colonoscopy to detect further adenomas or colorectal cancer. Results in table 1 also show that some outcomes differ for men and women. This can be explained in part by the fact that colorectal cancer is more common in men than in women.

When the outcomes of the current screening programme are compared with the expectations when the screening programme was introduced,¹ they seem to be well aligned. The positive predictive value for colorectal cancer, the detection rate for colorectal cancer and the NNscope for colorectal cancer are similar to the anticipated values. The participation rate is higher and the risk of complications is lower than expected, which is favourable. By contrast, the referral rate and sensitivity are less favourable (lower) than expected. However, there are a number of caveats to these comparisons. Expectations were based on findings from trial screening programmes, but there are relevant differences between those trial screening programmes and the current screening programme.

Outcomes of the colorectal cancer screening programme

Participation: the number of people who decide to respond to the invitation to the screening programme and submit a stool test.

Referral rate: percentage of participants who have a positive test result and are referred for follow-up testing.

Detection rate: the number of participants per 1,000 participants with colorectal cancer. The detection rate is also calculated for advanced adenomas.

Positive predictive value: percentage of participants with colorectal cancer found compared to the total number of participants with a positive test result who underwent a colonoscopy. The positive predictive value is also calculated for advanced adenomas.

Number needed to scope (NNscope): the number of participants who need to undergo a colonoscopy to detect one case of colorectal cancer. This outcome is also calculated for advanced adenomas.

Sensitivity: the probability of a positive test result in a participant with colorectal cancer.

Risk of complications: the risk of a complication as a result of a colonoscopy. Four categories of complications are registered: mild complications (hospitalisation <4 days), moderate complications (hospitalisation for 4-10 days), severe complications (hospitalisation >10 days) and fatal complications. Complications occurring within 30 days of the colonoscopy are included.

The population participating in the trial screening programmes was younger (participation was possible from the age of 50) and more women than men took part. A lower cut-off value was also applied and a different method was used to analyse the stool test. In addition, expectations were based on data from an initial screening round only. From this, the Committee concludes that the differences between prior expectations and the current outcomes of the screening programme have been explained well, and that the outcomes fit with a favourable risk-benefit ratio.

The main drawback of the screening programme is the high percentage of unnecessary referrals. It appears that more than 60% of colonoscopies revealed no relevant findings (advanced adenomas or colorectal cancer).⁶ This means that a false positive test result is returned in many cases. A false positive result can cause anxiety and stress that later turns out to have been unnecessary. In addition, the burden of a colonoscopy is high and participants are medicalised unnecessarily. A colonoscopy can also result in complications, such as intestinal perforation or bleeding, but the risk of this is very low (<1%).⁶ Another major drawback is that the screening programme leads to a certain degree of overdiagnosis and overtreatment. Overdiagnosis refers to the detection of advanced adenomas or colorectal cancers that would not have been found without screening and would not have presented with symptoms. The extent of overdiagnosis cannot be determined because it is not clear which adenomas and colorectal cancers will present with symptoms and which adenomas will develop into colorectal cancer. It is known that most adenomas do not develop into colorectal cancer. Overdiagnosis has also been shown to increase with age and with declining health.¹⁶ In addition to overdiagnosis, there is also overtreatment. Most adenomas do not develop into colorectal cancer, but all adenomas are removed during the

colonoscopy, as it is impossible to determine in advance which adenomas are harmless and which are not. This leads to overtreatment, as the vast majority of adenomas are removed unnecessarily. A final drawback of the screening programme is the false negative test results. A false negative result occurs if the test result was negative, but colorectal cancer is still diagnosed before the next screening round. This is then referred to as an interval cancer. False negative results and interval cancers may result in unwarranted reassurance or reduced confidence in the screening programme. Interval cancers are not common; the interval cancer rate is about 10 in every 10,000 participants.¹⁷

Although, according to the Committee, these disadvantages are significant and should not be underestimated, the benefits of screening (prevention of colorectal cancer and deaths from it) outweigh the disadvantages. The Committee concludes that the risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme is favourable in its current setup.

3.3 Cost effectiveness

To determine the cost-effectiveness of the screening programme, a model-based cost-effectiveness analysis was performed using the MISCAN-Colon model (microsimulation screening analysis) in which the costs and effects of the screening programme can be forecast over a long period of time.¹⁹ This analysis shows that the screening programme in its current setup is cost-effective in the long term, compared to a situation

without a screening programme.¹⁴ This does not mean that the screening progress does not cost money, but that in the long run, the cost of the screening programme will be recouped through savings on treatment costs due to fewer colorectal cancers.

3.4 International comparison

There are several other European countries where colorectal cancer screening programmes are offered. Comparing results between these countries and the Netherlands is not easy, as the epidemiology of colorectal cancer differs and there are many differences in the setup of screening programmes and the organisation of health care. In most countries, screening is offered nationwide (such as in France, the United Kingdom (UK), Denmark, Spain, Italy), while in others (such as in Sweden, Finland, Belgium, Portugal, Germany) it is only offered regionally at the time of publishing this advisory report.²⁰⁻²⁴ In addition, different screening tests and analytical methods are used, different cut-off values are applied when using the FIT (ranging between 15 µg Hb/g and 80 µg Hb/g faeces), starting ages differ (ranging between 50 and 60 years), finishing ages vary (ranging between 69 and 75 years), and different intervals are applied. As a result, referral rates and detection rates differ, among other things, and it cannot be concluded that one country is performing better than another. To achieve the ultimate objective of the screening programme, it is important to achieve a sufficiently high participation rate. It appears that the current way of inviting participants to

the screening programme and organising screening programmes in the Netherlands results in a very high participation rate (of around 70%) compared to other countries such as, for example, France where participation is at around 30%.²⁴



04 potential improvements

Health Council of the Netherlands | No. 2022/31e

The Committee has assessed whether further improvement of the screening programme can be achieved through calibration of the cut-off value, the interval or the age limits of the target group. This appeared not to be the case in the current situation. There are insufficient grounds for modifying the screening programme at this time, given that the risk-benefit ratio is favourable under the current setup and the screening programme is still in its infancy. There are also insufficient grounds for applying risk stratification in the current situation. Research is also needed to examine what changes could potentially lead to improvements in the screening programme in future. In addition, there should be a discussion on what is considered to be an improvement in the risk-benefit ratio.

4.1 Cut-off value

Since the middle of 2014, a cut-off value of 47 μ g/g faeces has been used for the FIT in the screening programme. A cut-off value of 15 μ g/g faeces was used in the first six months of the programme, but this resulted in too many referrals and an unfavourable ratio of true positive to false positive test results. This made the risk-benefit ratio unfavourable. Increasing the cut-off value to 47 μ g/g faeces balanced the ratio of true positive to false positive test results, resulting in a favourable risk-benefit ratio.²⁵

The Committee reviewed the cut-off value again in 2019 and advised against changing it.²⁶ The Committee judged that the risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme with the current cut-off value was favourable

and that the results of the screening programme were sufficiently in line with expectations at the time the programme was introduced. Lowering the cut-off value would result in an increase in the number of false positive test results and unnecessary referrals. Increasing the cut-off value would result in an increase in the number of missed adenomas and colorectal cancers.

Modelling research shows that a lower cut-off value leads to an improvement of the screening programme in terms of cost-effectiveness (see cost-effectiveness analysis box).²⁷ A lower cut-off value results in more adenomas and colorectal cancers being detected, adding to life years gained. However, according to the committee, this improvement does not outweigh the disadvantages of a lower cut-off value: a further increase in the number of unnecessary referrals and unnecessary colonoscopies, associated with an increased burden, more anxiety and greater risk of complications. Overdiagnosis and overtreatment would also increase. Conversely, a higher cut-off value would lead to too many cancers being missed and a less (cost-)effective programme. At the current cut-off value, the risk-to-benefit ratio is favourable. The Committee therefore believes that there is no reason to change the cut-off value in the current situation. The capacity of colonoscopy centres is not a factor in this assessment, as it is expected that sufficient colonoscopy capacity could be available in the event of any reduction in the cut-off value.

Cost effectiveness analysis

A cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA) is a way of modelling (or simulating) and comparing the costs and effects of certain screening strategies. It also allows estimates of the possible long-term effects of screening on outcomes such as life years gained, quality adjusted life years gained (QALYs), cancers prevented, and screening tests and diagnostic procedures needed.

Erasmus MC performed a CEA using MISCAN-Colon: a microsimulation model specifically calibrated to the Dutch setting.¹⁹ To perform the calculations, the model uses assumptions for indicators such as participation rates, the percentage of positive test results, the incidence of advanced adenomas and colorectal cancer and life expectancy. In the analysis comparing different alternative screening strategies, a participation rate of 100% for both screening and a colonoscopy was used. This is not feasible in practice, but it allows the screening strategies to be compared under similar conditions. Moreover, the optimum strategy will then be optimal for those who participate.

As with all statistical estimates, there is uncertainty around the results from MISCAN-Colon. Model predictions for the incidence of and mortality as a result of colorectal cancer in the Netherlands show a high degree of agreement with observed data. However, uncertainty is likely to be high around screening outcomes that are further into the future. Data for these are not available. While a CEA is one form of evidence in determining the optimum screening strategy, it is important to interpret its results with the aforementioned limitations in mind.

4.2 Interval

Since the introduction of the screening programme, the screening interval has been 2 years. A shorter interval (1 year) leads to more intensive screening, which will result in a decrease in the number of cancers arising between two rounds of screening (interval cancers) and an increase in the number of life years and QALYs gained. However, this is offset by several disadvantages. Annual screening will increase the burden on participants of the screening programme. False test results, overdiagnosis and overtreatment will occur more often than is currently the case. According to the committee, annual screening will not improve the risk-benefit ratio. The cost of the screening programme would also increase.

Extending the interval means fewer screening rounds per participant, reducing the burden and also the number of referrals and associated disadvantages. As colorectal cancer is generally a disease that develops slowly, the interval could probably be extended without increasing the risks too much, such as the occurrence of interval cancers. An initial indication of this was seen during the COVID-19 pandemic. During the first lockdown, the screening interval was, out of necessity, extended due to the suspension of screening programmes. As a result, for a limited number of participants, the interval was 2.5 years instead of 2 years. Overall, the impact of this extension seems to be limited. There was no difference in the interval cancer rate before, during or after the first COVID-19 wave and the positive predictive value and detection rates



were similar to those of participants with a regular interval.²⁸ However, this analysis should be interpreted with caution because the distribution of the stages of colorectal cancers detected has not yet been analysed and it was a limited group. As a result, it is not yet known whether the extended interval resulted in delayed diagnosis. This would be unfavourable because colorectal cancer detected at a later stage cannot be treated as easily as cancer detected at an early stage.

It is expected that for some participants, the risk-benefit ratio can be improved by extending the interval. A longer interval for those participants with very low Hb levels in the first screening round is currently being investigated by Erasmus MC.^{29,30} From this, the effects, advantages and disadvantages of a longer interval will become clear. The Committee awaits the outcome of this study with interest.

4.3 Finishing age

The current target population of the screening programme is people between the ages of 55 and 75. Raising the finishing age to, for example, 80 could potentially improve the screening programme, due to increasing life expectancy and the higher incidence of colorectal cancer among people aged 75 and older.^{3,31}

Modelling research shows that a finishing age above 75 years yields added life years and QALYs gained and can be efficient in terms of cost-effectiveness (see Figure 2).²⁷ However, there are also drawbacks to raising the finishing age. With screening at an advanced age, the individual risk-benefit ratio is highly dependent on the individual's life expectancy. Only if life expectancy is high enough can it be assumed that the benefits of screening at older ages outweigh the drawbacks. A systematic review of trials of colorectal cancer screening shows that people with a life expectancy of 5 years or less do not benefit from colorectal cancer screening, and that a favourable risk-benefit ratio is likely to be realised only for people with a life expectancy of 10 years or more.³² In 2021, the life expectancy of a 75-year-old was 12.3 years.³³ However, determining individual life expectancy is very difficult. In addition, even at older ages, there are drawbacks to population screening, such as false test results, overdiagnosis and overtreatment, and the burden and risks of a colonoscopy. Moreover, the risks associated with a colonoscopy increase with age,³⁴ which will more commonly result in an unfavourable risk-benefit ratio for older individuals than for younger individuals. Finally, it is unclear to what extent screening at older ages still adds value for the group of people who have been participating in the screening programme for a number of years. Ultimately, people aged 75 will have been screened for 20 years. In participants with (an early stage of) colorectal cancer, any adenomas and tumours present will have been detected and removed during that time. Often, people remain under regular care (monitoring) for some time even after the age of 75. In participants who did not develop adenomas during that entire time,

the Committee expects the likelihood that they will go on to develop colorectal cancer and die from it to be low.

As the risk-benefit ratio of screening above the age of 75 may be beneficial only for a specific, hard-to-identify target group, and the added value of screening beyond 20 years is expected to be limited, the Committee sees insufficient grounds for increasing the finishing age of the national screening programme.

Efficient screening strategies for the current Hb cut-off value





4.4 Starting age

The Committee also looked at whether lowering the starting age could improve the screening programme. There are various patient groups and organisations that have long argued for a reduction of the screening age to 50. European Union guidelines also point to the possibility of starting screening at the age of 50, if the epidemiological situation warrants it.³⁵ There are various European countries that, like the Netherlands, offer a national screening programme with two-yearly FIT, but where the starting age is 50. Examples include Denmark, France, Spain, Italy, Slovenia and the UK (not yet implemented).^{20,24,36-38} There are also countries where, as in the Netherlands, the starting age is higher (55-60 years; Norway, Ireland), and countries where screening is only offered regionally at the age of 50 (Flanders) or where there is no organised screening programme, but people can be screened on request at the age of 50 (Portugal, Germany (is currently implementing an organised programme)).^{21,39-42} In the United States, screening is recommended from 45 years of age,⁴³ although there is no nationwide organised screening programme. The recommended screening method in the United States ranges from annually with an FIT to a colonoscopy every 10 years. The rationale for the starting age is based primarily on modelling, which shows that the advantages would outweigh the disadvantages. However, only colonoscopy complications and the number of colonoscopies were cited as disadvantages. In addition, an increasing incidence of colorectal cancer among younger people is assumed. This trend has been observed in various high-income countries, including the Netherlands, for a few years now.⁴⁴

Screening from the age of 50 will result in health benefits, as more advanced adenomas and colorectal cancers will be found than is currently the case. However, there are also drawbacks to a lower starting age. As advanced adenomas and colorectal cancer are rare in the 50-55 age group, many participants will be referred incorrectly and undergo unnecessary colonoscopies with the associated burden, anxiety and complication risks. These disadvantages will increase, but it cannot be estimated in advance to what extent and degree, nor whether overdiagnosis and overtreatment will also be more common. It is also uncertain how great the effects of a lower starting age on other important outcomes of the screening programme as a whole, such as the referral rate, detection rate, positive predictive value, NNscope and sensitivity, will be. Data on this from abroad are scarce and also difficult to translate to the Dutch situation due to differences in the epidemiology of colorectal cancer and different cut-off values and analytical methods for the FIT. Another major uncertainty is the willingness to participate. In general, participation in screening is lower among younger people, as is the case in the current screening programme.⁶ Lower participation rates will reduce the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the screening programme. In addition, modelling research shows that screening from 50 years of age with the current cut-off value and current interval is not an efficient

strategy in terms of cost-effectiveness (see Figure 2).²⁷ This is because with a low starting age, screening would be more frequent than is currently the case, while far fewer relevant findings will be made because the incidence in younger people is lower. Because screening will be more frequent and yield limited results, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio will become less favourable than it currently is. Even with a lower cut-off value or a different interval, screening from the age of 50 was not found to be an efficient strategy.

So while there is no convincing evidence to show that the benefits of earlier screening outweigh the disadvantages, it is also clear to the Committee that some degree of health benefit remains. This applies to those people in whom colorectal cancer or an early stage thereof is already present at around 50 years of age. Offering one-off screening with the FIT to the entire target group at a younger age could help detect and treat some of these people in good time. People with a negative test result at around the age of 50 could then enter the regular screening programme at the age of 55. The advantage of such a pre-measurement would be that some degree of health benefit would be achieved, while the burden and disadvantages would be limited. The cost will also be lower than in the case of a blanket reduction in the starting age. Because it is not clear what the willingness to participate is, what exactly the yield, results and disadvantages will be, and what the implications of implementation are, a regional trial screening programme is needed before deciding on lowering the starting age of the current screening programme. This will allow these uncertainties to be investigated and also provide insight into their effects on the results of the screening programme as a whole (such as the positive predictive value and sensitivity). The Committee therefore also recommends conducting such a regional trial screening programme.

4.5 Risk stratification

The screening programme could potentially be improved by applying risk stratification (see box on the following page). Risk stratification based on sex, age and/or Hb level would potentially be relatively easy to incorporate into the screening programme, as no additional information or testing would be required before participants are assigned a specific screening strategy.

The Committee therefore focused on these forms of risk stratification. In addition, in the scientific literature, no other biomarkers or risk factors have been identified that are sufficiently predictive for use in risk stratification in a screening programme in the short term.

Risk stratification in screening

Risk stratification in screening means that the screening programme is structured differently for different subgroups of the target population, depending on the subgroup's characteristics and risk of colorectal cancer. An example of this is using a different cut-off value or screening interval for women than for men, because colorectal cancer is less common in women than in men. The aim of risk stratification is to improve the risk-benefit ratio for the subgroup, and therefore the risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme as a whole.

4.5.1 Sex

In general, men have a higher risk of colorectal cancer than women. Figures from the Netherlands Cancer Registry (Nederlandse Kankerregistratie, NKR) show that the incidence of colorectal cancer is higher for men than for women.⁴⁵ Because the incidence is not the same, the optimal cut-off value, screening age and/or interval may differ for men and women.

Using data from a Dutch pilot study conducted prior to the introduction of the screening programme, test characteristics for different cut-off values were calculated for men and women. Due to the higher incidence among men, the percentage of positive test results and detection rates in the first round were higher for men than for women.⁴⁶ After adjusting for age, there was no statistically significant difference in positive predictive value for advanced adenomas and colorectal cancer between men and women. Based on these data, a cost-effectiveness analysis was conducted to determine whether stratified screening by sex would be cost-effective.

The model analysis shows that two-yearly screening between 50 and 75 years is less effective for women than for men: fewer life years and QALYs are gained and the costs are higher.⁴⁷ In relation to cost-effectiveness, however, there is little difference between men and women in terms of what the most efficient screening strategy would be. Sex-specific screening would not improve the cost-effectiveness of the programme as a whole, as when the same strategy is used, the yields (early detection of adenomas and colorectal cancer) resulting from initiating screening of men.

More recent data from the screening programme shows that among participants who participated in all screening rounds, there is little difference in positive predictive value between men and women after the first screening round (see Table 1, Chapter 3). The NNscope to detect advanced adenomas and to detect colorectal cancer were also similar after the first round of screening. Regardless of the screening round, the sensitivity is higher for men than for women, but for both sexes the sensitivity decreases and stabilises after the first screening round. Despite a lower sensitivity and lower cumulative interval cancer rate for women, there was no difference in risk of interval cancer between men and women after adjusting for age and Hb level.¹⁷ It is not clear why sensitivity is lower in women. Possible reasons for this include the number, size or location of tumours of the large intestine in women. However, a study into this shows



that the location of intestinal tumours did not explain the difference in sensitivity.⁴⁸

The anticipated effects of risk stratification were also modelled using data from the current screening programme. The results show that from a cost-effectiveness perspective, women could generally be screened less frequently than men.⁴⁹ Screening could often start at a later age for women and stop at a younger age than for men. However, modelling also revealed cost-effective screening strategies where the setup was found to be the same for men and women. In addition, it appears that the greatest health benefits can be achieved with a strategy where the setup is completely identical or very similar for men and women.⁴⁹ This means that for the health benefits to be achieved, the added value of applying risk stratification by sex is limited.

Based on all the above data, the Committee sees no grounds for introducing risk stratification by sex in the current situation.

4.5.2 Age

As with sex, the risk of colorectal cancer also varies between different age groups. The incidence of colorectal cancer increases with age.⁴⁵ As the incidence is higher in older age groups, the optimal cut-off value and/or interval could potentially differ between age groups.

However, data from the screening programme show that in the second, third and fourth screening rounds (actual participation), outcomes are quite stable despite the average age being consistently higher (see Table 1, Chapter 3). There is also no evidence to show that stratification by age improves the screening programme. Most studies that examined risk stratification by age also looked at sex. Using data from a Dutch study, specific cut-off values by sex and age were identified. Only if the goal is to equalise the specificity of the FIT and the probability of a relevant finding from a colonoscopy for everyone are higher cut-off values needed for women than for men and for younger people than for older people.⁵⁰ No studies have been done on a different interval for different age groups. No modelling research into this form of risk stratification is available.

Based on these data, the Committee sees no grounds for applying risk stratification by age in the current situation.

4.5.3 Hb value

A third option for stratification is to apply a different interval to different Hb values. The Hb value is used in the FIT to determine the test result. If the Hb value is higher than the cut-off value, there is a greater risk of colorectal cancer or an early stage thereof. In this case, the test result is positive and a participant will be referred. If the Hb value is lower than the cut-off value, the risk of colorectal cancer is lower and a participant will not be referred. However, it was found that even when the Hb value is below

the cut-off value, the risk of colorectal cancer varies between different (categories of) Hb values. A higher value, just below or close to the cut-off value, indicates a higher risk of developing an (interval) cancer than a very low Hb value.^{17,51}

As described earlier, Erasmus MC has started a study within the current screening programme in which participants with a negative test result are given a different screening interval depending on the Hb value from the FIT.^{29,30} For participants with a very low Hb value, the screening interval is extended (3 years), for participants with a high Hb value (below the cut-off value) the interval is shortened (1 year) and for participants with an Hb value in between these, the interval remains at 2 years. This form of risk stratification is expected to improve the risk-benefit ratio by reducing the burden without increasing the risk of developing colorectal cancer too much. The Committee awaits the outcome of this study with interest.

4.5.4 Risk stratification in future

In future, risk stratification could be used in screening programmes in order to improve the risk-benefit ratio for participants. However, before risk stratification is used, it must first be determined what can be seen as improving the risk-benefit ratio. The Committee believes that it is very important to start this discussion. Various starting points are possible, both in terms of benefits and risks: maximise sensitivity or the positive predictive value, reduce unnecessary referrals or, for example, equalise

sensitivity for different sub-populations, such as men and women. It is not possible to improve the screening programme for every participant and every outcome. This is because all outcomes are closely connected, and improving one outcome will result in a worsening of another outcome. For example, to make the sensitivity more equal for men and women, the specificity of the FIT for women needs to be lowered by lowering the cut-off value for them, but this is associated with more unnecessary referrals and all the disadvantages associated with that. Equal sensitivity can also be achieved by lowering the sensitivity for men by using a higher cut-off value for them, but this will lead to more missed adenomas and colorectal cancers. A study was conducted in Sweden using different cut-off values for men and women to determine the effects in practice. In the Stockholm-Gotland region, a cut-off value of 80 µg Hb/g faeces was used for men and a cut-off value of 40 µg Hb/g faeces was used for women. Initial results showed that this form of risk stratification led to an equal percentage of positive test results for men and women.⁵² However, it also showed that risk stratification did not improve the programme as a whole. Sensitivity was significantly higher for women than men and the total cost of the screening programme was 16% higher than the cost would have been with equal cut-off values (80 Hb/g faeces for everyone). With the same cut-off values, the positive predictive value for colorectal cancer would be the same for men and women, but 23% of colorectal cancers in women would then be missed.⁵³ By contrast, there would not be any difference between men and women in terms of the sensitivity and



number of interval cancers.⁵⁴ A trial screening programme was conducted in Finland in which different cut-off values for men (70 µg Hb/g faeces) and women (25 µg Hb/g faeces) were also used.²² One cut-off value for all participants was eventually chosen for the national screening programme,⁵⁵ primarily for practical reasons such as limited colonoscopy capacity, which means that the percentage of positive test results should not exceed 5%. As the epidemiology of colorectal cancer, the composition of the study populations, the setup of the (trial) screening programmes and the FIT used are different in Sweden and Finland from those in the Netherlands, the results of those two programmes are not directly transferable to the Dutch situation. Before some form of risk stratification can be implemented, its effect in the Dutch programme needs to be investigated. In addition, it is important to define in advance what is considered to be an improvement, so that it is clear which outcomes would drive changes to the programme.

4.6 Other potential improvements

4.6.1 Participation

Average participation in the colorectal cancer screening programme has been stable since its introduction, at between 71% and 73%. However, participation is lower than average in various sub-populations. Socio-economic status (SES, a variable combining education level, financial wealth and employment history) appears to play a role in participation in the screening programme. People with a lower SES are less likely to participate in the screening programme, whereas the yield of screening (i.e. detected adenomas and colorectal cancers) is significantly higher in this group.⁵⁶ It is therefore important to encourage participation among people with a lower SES. In addition to SES, age and gender play a role in participation. In general, younger people participate less often than older people, and men less often than women.¹⁵

A lack of knowledge and tailored communication seem to play a role in participation.⁵⁷ It is possible that information specifically tailored to the target group could help to ensure that potential participants are informed properly in good time about the screening programme and its advantages and disadvantages. Various initiatives have been launched to improve participation rates in specific groups. For example, research funds have been made available to determine how specific target groups can be better reached and informed.⁵⁸ The Committee believes that it is important to continue to invest in reaching groups with lower participation rates, especially those with a low SES.

4.6.2 Developments in medical technology

Much research has been done in recent years on early detection of colorectal cancer. Various biomarkers (proteins, DNA, microbes, volatile organic compounds) can be detected in blood, faeces, urine and/or via breath testing, opening up opportunities for new screening tests.

Biomarkers that, like the FIT, are measured in a stool sample obtained by the participant him/herself at home could be implemented relatively easily, as the test does not change for participants (a stool test is still required) and the implementation remains fairly similar (sending the stool test to participants). In the Netherlands, a study is currently underway within the screening programme to add other protein biomarkers to the FIT, looking not only at Hb levels but also at other proteins present.⁵⁹ The results of this study are expected over the next few years. It is uncertain whether the results will prompt changes to the screening programme. Although there is also a lot of research on other biomarkers in blood, stool, urine and breath in addition to this study,⁶⁰⁻⁶⁴ these tests are still far ready to be implemented in the screening programme. This is because many biomarkers have not yet been studied as part of a screening programme (a 'healthy' population without symptoms). Translating research findings from a clinical setting to a screening population is essential, but hardly ever done. Mostly, this is because the biomarkers studied in the clinical setting show poor predictive value from colorectal cancer. In a screening population, the predictive value will be even lower, making these biomarkers unsuitable for population screening.

4.6.3 Sustainability

The screening is structured so that everyone eligible for the screening is sent a stool test at home. More than a million tests are sent out each year. As approximately 70% of recipients decide to participate, 30% of the tests

remain unused and become waste. The National Institute for Public Health and the Environment (Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu, RIVM) and Bevolkingsonderzoek Nederland have taken steps to make the screening programme more sustainable by sending out, and using, fewer tests. As of 2021, only an invitation letter (i.e. no stool test) has been sent to people who did not respond to two previous rounds of invitation. This saves sending out tests that are very unlikely to be used anyway. There are various practical reasons for not immediately making savings on sending stool tests by, for example, letting people request a test themselves. The main reason is that participation is expected to be lower, especially among sub-populations that already participate less frequently (see §4.6.1). This is undesirable, because the yield of screening (i.e. detected adenomas and colorectal cancers) is particularly high in people with a low SES. In addition, a pre-notification letter is sent three weeks before the first invitation to the screening programme. This allows people to opt out on time if they do not want to participate, which also saves tests. Finally, the packaging material has been reduced.

05 advice



Health Council of the Netherlands | No. 2022/31e

The ultimate goal of the population screening is to reduce colorectal cancer mortality. As the screening programme only started a few years ago, it is not yet possible to demonstrate a decrease in colorectal cancer mortality. Results from trial screening programmes, different outcomes from the current screening programme and modelling show indirectly that the programme can prevent deaths from colorectal cancer. Based on these data, it is expected that the intended goal will be achieved in due course.

As the screening programme only started a few years ago, its results are still a work in progress. The risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme is favourable in the current situation. The Committee therefore recommends not changing the cut-off value, interval or age limits of the target group, and not applying risk stratification for the time being. The Committee also recommends carrying out regional trial screening programmes after the one-off screening using a FIT at around the age of 50 years serving as a precursor to regular screening. This will help determine the extent to which one-off screening provides health benefits and how great its disadvantages and risks are.

5.1. Evaluation

In 2014, the colorectal cancer screening programme was implemented in stages because the entire target group (all 55-75-year-olds) was too large to start everyone in one go. Introduction of the programme was completed

in 2019, and since then the entire target group is invited for screening every two years. Due to this staggered implementation, the current results of the screening progress are still a work in progress. As the screening programme runs for longer, the results will stabilise and become more robust. This fact was a major factor for the Committee when evaluating the screening programme and considering changes to the programme.

As the screening programme is still relatively new, it is not yet possible to observe a decrease in colorectal cancer mortality, which is the ultimate goal of the screening programme. However, there are various indications that this goal is within reach. For example, results from trial screening programmes suggest that screening leads to less colorectal cancer and fewer deaths from colorectal cancer. The results from the current screening programme also point in the same direction: the incidence of colorectal cancer has declined and the colorectal cancers detected are often detected at an early stage, increasing the chances of cure and survival. In addition, modelling shows that the screening programme is effective and is expected to achieve the intended goal (reduction of colorectal cancer mortality) with time.

The Committee also assessed the risk-benefit ratio of the screening programme and concluded that it is favourable. The benefits of screening



(preventing colorectal cancer and deaths from it) outweigh the drawbacks, such as false test results and the associated unnecessary colonoscopies, anxiety and missed colorectal cancers. In addition, the main outcomes of the screening programme are generally in line with expectations at the time of its introduction. The results achieved were even better than expected in terms of participation (higher than expected) and the number of complications from colonoscopies (lower than expected). The referral rate and sensitivity are less favourable (lower), but this can be explained by the fact that expectations were based on trial screening programmes, which used a lower cut-off value and a different analytical method to the FIT, among other factors, and the composition of the population was different from that of the current screening programme. These outcomes therefore do not adversely affect the risk-benefit ratio.

5.2 Potential improvements

The Committee assessed whether the screening programme could be further improved by changing the cut-off value, screening interval or age limits of the target population. In addition, applying risk stratification could potentially improve the benefit-risk ratio for certain groups (and hence the programme as a whole). However, as the screening programme is still in its infancy and the risk-benefit ratio of the current setup is favourable, the Committee believes sufficient and very persuasive arguments are needed before changing the screening programme at this time. There are currently no such arguments according to the Committee:

- As far as lowering the cut-off value goes, while it may lead to more life years gained, it does not outweigh the increase in the number of unnecessary colonoscopies and the associated disadvantages and risks.
- Lengthening the interval could lead to a lower burden and fewer disadvantages, without increasing the risk of interval cancers too much. This is currently being investigated. The Committee will await the results before recommending any changes to the screening interval.
- Screening of over-75s is not suitable for a screening programme, as its risk-benefit ratio could be beneficial only for a specific and very hard-toidentify group. In addition, the committee expects the added value of such screening to be limited, as ultimately people aged 75 have been screened for 20 years and, where necessary, treated.
- Two-yearly screening of 50- to 55-year-olds has an unfavourable riskbenefit ratio, according to the Committee, because few cases of colorectal cancer or advanced adenoma will be detected in this age group due of its low incidence, while there will be many unnecessary referrals and colonoscopies. The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio will also be less favourable than it currently is. One-off screening with an FIT at around the age of 50 (followed by entry into the regular screening programme at the age of 55 in the event of a negative test result) could provide health benefits without too many disadvantages and risks. This would require a trial screening programme first.
- There is currently no evidence that risk stratification by age or sex



provides health benefits and improves the risk-benefit ratio. Research on risk stratification by Hb level is underway. The Committee recommends waiting for the outcome of this research.

5.3 Recommendations

5.3.1 Trial screening programme based on one-off screening at around the age of 50

The Committee recommends carrying out a trial screening programme based on a one-off FIT for participants around the age of 50, before entering the regular screening programme. People with a negative test result would then enter the regular screening programme at the age of 55. According to the Committee, such a pre-measurement could provide health benefits for participants with advanced adenoma or colorectal cancer, without burdening the entire target group with the screening programme and its drawbacks at an earlier age and for longer. The trial population screening programme may show to what extent health gains are indeed achieved and how significant the disadvantages are. The trial screening programme should also provide insights on willingness to participate and feasibility. The Committee recommends that the trial population screening programme be carried out at a regional level and it should not be offered nationwide until the results of the trial programme are in. After all, a pre-measurement for participants at around the age of 50 may very well yield insufficient health benefits and entail too many disadvantages as well as an unfavourable risk-benefit ratio.

5.3.2 Preparing for possible risk stratification in future

The Committee expects that risk stratification could add value in the future. When the screening programme has been running for a longer period, it will become clear whether there are outcomes, such as the positive predictive value or sensitivity, that differ largely between men and women, or between different age groups. It is possible that such differences could be eliminated with risk stratification, aiming at a similar risk-benefit ratio for each group and improving the programme as a whole. For this, however, it is important to determine in advance what outcomes need to drive the changes and what is considered to be an improvement. As all outcomes are connected to each other in the screening programme, improving one outcome will result in a worsening of another outcome. For example, improving sensitivity can be achieved by using a lower cut-off value, but that will also create further disadvantages, as there will be more unnecessary referrals. The Committee believes that it is very important to start the discussion on improving the risk-benefit ratio and defining how this can be done. In the Committee's view, this discussion should be held broadly, because the same issues are present in breast and cervical cancer screening programmes and may be approached differently. In addition, it is important to conduct scientific research on different forms of risk stratification in the screening programme to determine the advantages and disadvantages, participation rate, cost-effectiveness and feasibility.

5.3.3 Encouraging participation among certain groups

Participation in the colorectal screening programme is high. However, there are groups in which participation is below average. This is seen not only in the colorectal cancer screening programme, but also in the screening programmes for breast and cervical cancer. Lower participation rates are particularly seen in the youngest target groups and among people with a low socio-economic status. Because this leaves health gains untapped, the Committee believes that it is important to not lose sight of these groups. Continued investment should be made to reach these groups, for example through initiatives in neighbourhoods or districts to inform the target group about the screening programme, and through conducting scientific research into factors that influence participation.

5.3.4 Focus on primary prevention

Although the Committee has not been asked to advise on primary prevention, the Committee wishes to take the opportunity in this advisory report to stress its importance. A continued focus on primary prevention from the government can lead to health gains over time. The committee welcomes initiatives such as the National Prevention Agreement⁶⁵, and would like to see even greater efforts to prevent colorectal cancer by, for example, facilitating research into it and education on it.

references



- ¹ Gezondheidsraad. *Bevolkingsonderzoek naar darmkanker*. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad, 2009; publicatie nr. 2009/13.
- ² Intergraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKNL). *Darmkanker*. https://iknl. nl/kankersoorten/darmkanker. Consulted: August 2022.
- ³ Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKNL). *Cijfers darmkanker*. https:// iknl.nl/kankersoorten/darmkanker/registratie. Consulted: August 2022.
- ⁴ Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKNL). *Kankersoorten*. https://iknl. nl/kankersoorten. Consulted: June 2022.
- ⁵ Heitman SJ, Ronksley PE, Hilsden RJ, Manns BJ, Rostom A, Hemmelgarn BR. *Prevalence of adenomas and colorectal cancer in average risk individuals: a systematic review and meta-analysis*. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2009; 7(12): 1272-1278.
- ³ Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKNL). *monitor bevolkingsonderzoek darmkanker 2021*. www.iknl.nl/kankersoorten/ darmkanker/onderzoek/monitor-bevolkingsonderzoek-darmkanker.
- ⁷ Nederlands Huisartsen Genootschap (NHG). *Informatie voor de huisarts over het Lynch syndroom (HNPCC)*. 2011.
- ⁸ Nederlands Huisartsen Genootschap (NHG). *Informatie voor de huisarts over Familiaire Adenomateuze Polyposis*. 2011.
- ⁹ Maatschappelijk Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. *Notitie Analyse impact BVO op rate advanced kankers (2021)*. Not published.
- ¹⁰ Ventura L, Mantellini P, Grazzini G, Castiglione G, Buzzoni C, Rubeca T, et al. *The impact of immunochemical faecal occult blood testing on colorectal cancer incidence*. Dig Liver Dis 2014; 46(1): 82-86.

- ¹¹ Giorgi Rossi P, Vicentini M, Sacchettini C, Di Felice E, Caroli S, Ferrari F, et al. *Impact of Screening Program on Incidence of Colorectal Cancer: A Cohort Study in Italy*. Am J Gastroenterol 2015; 110(9): 1359-1366.
- ¹² Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. Notitie Stadiumverdeling van darmkankers gedetecteerd in de eerste, tweede of derde ronde (2021). Not published.
- ¹³ Breekveldt ECH, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Toes-Zoutendijk E, Spaander MCW, van Vuuren AJ, van Kemenade FJ, et al. Colorectal cancer incidence, mortality, tumour characteristics, and treatment before and after introduction of the faecal immunochemical testing-based screening programme in the Netherlands: a population-based study. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2021; 7(1): 60-68.
- ¹⁴ Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. (Middel)Langetermijn effectiviteit van het bevolkingsonderzoek darmkanker (2022). Not published.
- ¹⁵ Intergraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKNL). *monitor bevolkingsonderzoek borstkanker 2020/2021*. https://iknl.nl/ kankersoorten/borstkanker/onderzoek/monitor-bevolkingsonderzoek.
- ¹⁶ Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Gulati R, Mariotto AB, Schechter CB, de Carvalho TM, Knudsen AB, et al. *Personalizing age of cancer screening cessation based on comorbid conditions: model estimates of harms and benefits*. Ann Intern Med 2014; 161(2): 104-112.



- ¹⁷ Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. *Notitie Verdieping intervalkankers na gunstige FIT (2020)*. Not published.
- ¹⁸ ScreenIT, Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. Gegevens bevolkingsonderzoek darmkanker 2014-2020 naar screeningsronde en geslacht. Not published.
- ¹⁹ Loeve F, Boer R, van Oortmarssen GJ, van Ballegooijen M, Habbema JD. *The MISCAN-COLON simulation model for the evaluation of colorectal cancer screening*. Comput Biomed Res 1999; 32(1): 13-33.
- ²⁰ United European Gastroenterology. *Colorectal screening across Europe*. March 2019.
- ²¹ Heisser T, Hoffmeister M, Tillmanns H, Brenner H. The authors declare no conflicts of interest. *Impact of demographic changes and screening colonoscopy on long-term projection of incident colorectal cancer cases in Germany: A modelling study*. Lancet Reg Health Eur 2022; 20: 100451.
- ²² Sarkeala T, Färkkilä M, Anttila A, Hyöty M, Kairaluoma M, Rautio T, et al. *Piloting gender-oriented colorectal cancer screening with a faecal immunochemical test: population-based registry study from Finland.* BMJ Open 2021; 11(2): e046667.
- ²³ Schreuders EH, Ruco A, Rabeneck L, Schoen RE, Sung JJ, Young GP, et al. *Colorectal cancer screening: a global overview of existing programmes.* Gut 2015; 64(10): 1637-1649.
- ²⁴ Toes-Zoutendijk E, Portillo I, Hoeck S, de Brabander I, Perrin P, Dubois
 C, et al. *Participation in faecal immunochemical testing-based*

colorectal cancer screening programmes in the northwest of Europe. J Med Screen 2020; 27(2): 68-76.

- ²⁵ Toes-Zoutendijk E, van Leerdam ME, Dekker E, van Hees F, Penning C, Nagtegaal I, et al. *Real-Time Monitoring of Results During First Year* of Dutch Colorectal Cancer Screening Program and Optimization by Altering Fecal Immunochemical Test Cut-Off Levels. Gastroenterology 2017; 152(4): 767-775.e762.
- ²⁶ Gezondheidsraad. *Afkapwaarde in bevolkingsonderzoek darmkanker*.
 Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad, 2019; publicatie nr. 2019/13.
- ²⁷ Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. Kosteneffectiviteit van verschillende screeningsstrategieën. Not published.
- ²⁸ Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. Notitie Impact COVID-19 op het bevolkingsonderzoek darmkanker (2022). Not published.
- ²⁹ Gezondheidsraad. WBO: onderzoek naar gepersonaliseerde darmkankerscreening. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad 2021; publicatie nr. 2021/51.
- ³⁰ Gezondheidsraad. WBO: amendement bij onderzoek naar gepersonaliseerde darmkankerscreening. Den Haag 2022; publicatie nr. 2022/11.
- ³¹ Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu (RIVM). Sterfte en levensverwachting. https://www.volksgezondheidtoekomstverkenning. nl/c-vtv/trendscenario-update-2020/sterfte-en-levensverwachting. Consulted: August 2022.



- ³² Lee SJ, Boscardin WJ, Stijacic-Cenzer I, Conell-Price J, O'Brien S, Walter LC. *Time lag to benefit after screening for breast and colorectal cancer: meta-analysis of survival data from the United States, Sweden, United Kingdom, and Denmark*. Bmj 2013; 346: e8441.
- ³³ Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (CBS). Levensverwachting; geslacht, leeftijd. https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/ dataset/37360ned/table?fromstatweb. Consulted: November 2022.
- ³⁴ Shaukat A, Kahi CJ, Burke CA, Rabeneck L, Sauer BG, Rex DK. ACG Clinical Guidelines: Colorectal Cancer Screening 2021. Am J Gastroenterol 2021; 116(3): 458-479.
- ³⁵ Council of the European Union. Council recommendation of 2 December 2003 on cancer screening (2003/878/EC). December 2003.
- ³⁶ Nouni-Garcia R, Lara-Lopez A, Carratala-Munuera C, Gil-Guillen VF, Lopez-Pineda A, Orozco-Beltran D, et al. *Factors Associated with Colorectal Cancer Screening in Spain: Results of the 2017 National Health Survey*. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022; 19(9).
- ³⁷ Danish Cancer Society. *Bowel cancer screening*. https://www.cancer. dk/international/english/screening-colon-cancer-english/. Consulted: October 2022.
- ³⁸ NHS. Overview Bowel cancer screening. https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/ bowel-cancer-screening/. Consulted: October 2022.
- ³⁹ Centrum voor Kankeropsporing (CvKO). *Wat is het bevolkingsonderzoek dikkedarmkanker*? https://dikkedarmkanker.

bevolkingsonderzoek.be/nl/ddk/bevolkingsonderzoek-dikkedarmkanker. Consulted: October 2022.

- ⁴⁰ Institutt for populasjonsbasert kreftforskning.
 Tarmscreeningprogrammet er i gang. https://www.kreftregisteret.no/
 screening/tarmscreening/aktuelt/tarmscreeningprogrammet-er-i-gang/.
 Consulted: October 2022.
- ⁴¹ Health Service Executive. *Bowel screening BowelScreen*. https:// www2.hse.ie/screening-and-vaccinations/bowel-screening/bowelscreening-information.html. Consulted: October 2022.
- ⁴² Nogueira RA. *Programa Nacional para as Doenças Oncológicas*. Rev
 Port Clin Geral 2018; 34(2): 104-109.
- ⁴³ Davidson KW, Barry MJ, Mangione CM, Cabana M, Caughey AB, Davis EM, et al. Screening for Colorectal Cancer: US Preventive Services Task Force Recommendation Statement. JAMA 2021; 325(19): 1965-1977.
- ⁴⁴ Vuik FE, Nieuwenburg SA, Bardou M, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Bento MJ, et al. *Increasing incidence of colorectal cancer in young adults in Europe over the last 25 years*. Gut 2019; 68(10): 1820-1826.
- ⁴⁵ Integraal Kankercentrum Nederland (IKNL). *Incidentie, Dikkedarm- en endeldarmkanker, 2019, naar geslacht en leeftijd*. NKR Cijfers: Consulted: March 2022.
- ⁴⁶ Kapidzic A, van der Meulen MP, Hol L, van Roon AH, Looman CW, Lansdorp-Vogelaar I, et al. *Gender Differences in Fecal*



Immunochemical Test Performance for Early Detection of Colorectal Neoplasia. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2015; 13(8): 1464-1471.e1464.

- ⁴⁷ van der Meulen MP, Kapidzic A, Leerdam MEV, van der Steen A, Kuipers EJ, Spaander MCW, et al. *Do Men and Women Need to Be Screened Differently with Fecal Immunochemical Testing? A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis*. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2017; 26(8): 1328-1336.
- ⁴⁸ van Turenhout ST, Oort FA, van der Hulst RWM, Visscher AP, Terhaar sive Droste JS, Scholten P, et al. *Prospective cross-sectional study on faecal immunochemical tests: sex specific cut-off values to obtain equal sensitivity for colorectal cancer?* BMC Gastroenterol 2014; 14(1): 217.
- ⁴⁹ Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. Kosteneffectiviteitsanalyse - geslachtsspecifieke cohortruns. Not published.
- ⁵⁰ Kortlever TL, van der Vlugt M, Dekker E, Bossuyt PMM. Individualized faecal immunochemical test cut-off based on age and sex in colorectal cancer screening. Prev Med Rep 2021; 23: 101447.
- ⁵¹ Maatschappelijke Gezondheidszorg, Erasmus MC. *Integrale evaluatie voor de Gezondsheidsraad (2022)*. Not published.
- ⁵² Blom J, Löwbeer C, Elfström KM, Sventelius M, Öhman D, Saraste D, et al. *Gender-specific cut-offs in colorectal cancer screening with FIT: Increased compliance and equal positivity rate.* J Med Screen 2019; 26(2): 92-97.

- ⁵³ Ribbing Wilén H, Saraste D, Blom J. Gender-specific cut-off levels in colorectal cancer screening with fecal immunochemical test: A population-based study of colonoscopy findings and costs. J Med Screen 2021; 28(4): 439-447.
- ⁵⁴ Ribbing Wilén H, Saraste D, Blom J. Interval cancers in a populationbased screening program for colorectal cancer with gender-specific cut-off levels for fecal immunochemical test. J Med Screen 2022: 9691413221085218.
- ⁵⁵ Finnish National Steering Group for Cancer Screening. *Protocol for colorectal cancer screening*. Finland: Finnish Cancer Registry, 2021. https://syoparekisteri.fi/assets/files/2021/11/Protocol-for-and-tests-used-in-colorectal-cancer-screening.pdf. Consulted: 15/03/2022.
- ⁵⁶ van der Meulen MP, Toes-Zoutendijk E, Spaander MCW, Dekker E, Bonfrer JMG, van Vuuren AJ, et al. Socioeconomic differences in participation and diagnostic yield within the Dutch national colorectal cancer screening programme with faecal immunochemical testing. PLoS One 2022; 17(2): e0264067.
- ⁵⁷ Bongaerts TH, Büchner FL, Middelkoop BJ, Guicherit OR, Numans ME. Determinants of (non-)attendance at the Dutch cancer screening programmes: A systematic review. J Med Screen 2020; 27(3): 121-129.
- ⁵⁸ ZonMW. Subsidieoproep: Vroege Opsporing ronde 2021-2022. https:// www.zonmw.nl/nl/subsidies/openstaande-subsidieoproepen/detail/item/ vroege-opsporing-ronde-2021-2022/. Consulted: 23/08/2022.

- ⁵⁹ Gezondheidsraad. WBO: onderzoek met fecale eiwit-biomarkertest in bevolkingsonderzoek darmkanker. Den Haag: Gezondheidsraad, 2020; publicatie nr. 2020/03.
- ⁶⁰ Shaukat A, Levin TR. *Current and future colorectal cancer screening strategies*. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2022; 19(8): 521-531.
- ⁶¹ Nikolaou S, Qiu S, Fiorentino F, Rasheed S, Tekkis P, Kontovounisios
 C. Systematic review of blood diagnostic markers in colorectal cancer.
 Tech Coloproctol 2018; 22(7): 481-498.
- ⁶² Chan SCH, Liang JQ. Advances in tests for colorectal cancer screening and diagnosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2022; 22(4): 449-460.
- ⁶³ Wang L, Li J, Xiong X, Hao T, Zhang C, Gao Z, et al. Volatile organic compounds as a potential screening tool for neoplasm of the digestive system: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2021; 11(1): 23716.
- ⁶⁴ Zhou W, Tao J, Li J, Tao S. Volatile organic compounds analysis as a potential novel screening tool for colorectal cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine 2020; 99(27).
- ⁶⁵ Ministerie van Volksgezondheid, Welzijn en Sport. Nationaal Preventieakkoord. November 2018. https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/ onderwerpen/gezondheid-en-preventie/documenten/ convenanten/2018/11/23/nationaal-preventieakkoord. Consulted: August 2022.



Committee and consulted experts^a

Members of the Committee on Population Screening for the advisory report Evaluation and

optimization of the colorectal cancer screening programme

- Prof. O.M. Dekkers, Professor in Clinical Epidemiology; Specialist in Internal Medicine, Leids
 Universitair Medisch Centrum, Leiden, *chairperson*
- Prof. M.C. Cornel, Professor of Community Genetics and Public Health Genomics, Amsterdam UMC, *vice chairperson*
- Dr. E.M.M. Adang, Health Economist, Radboud University, Nijmegen
- Prof. M.J.M. Broeders, Professor Personalized Cancer Screening, Radboudumc, Nijmegen
- Prof. H.H.J. Das, Professor of Communication & Persuasion, Radboud University, Nijmegen
- Dr. Y. Drewes, Physician, Coordinator Master Vitality and Ageing, Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum, Leiden
- Dr. P.J.M. Elders, Assistant Professor, Department of General Practice and Elderly Care and the EMGO Institute for Health and Care Research. Amsterdam UMC
- Dr. A. Krom, PhD, Ethicist, Ethics Institute, Utrecht University
- Prof. I.M. van Langen, Professor in Clinical Genetics, University Medical Center Groningen
- Prof. S.C. Linn, Professor of Translational Oncology, Universiteit Utrecht, Internist-Oncologist Antoni van Leeuwenhoek, Amsterdam
- Dr. M.C. Ploem, LLM, Lecturer of Health Law, Amsterdam UMC
- Dr. J.J. van Tol-Geerdink, Researcher Shared Decision Making in Oncology, Radboud University, Nijmegen
- Prof. J. Twisk, Professor of Applied Biotatistics, Amsterdam UMC

Consulted experts^a

- Dr. D.J. Bac, Gastroenterologist, Ziekenhuis Gelderse Vallei, Ede
- Dr. M.A.M. Frasa, Clinical Chemist and Endocrinologist, LangeLand Ziekenhuis en Reinier de Graaf Ziekenhuis, Zoetermeer
- Prof. E. Dekker, Professor of Gastrointestinal Oncology and Gastroenterologist, Amsterdam UMC
- Prof. I. Lansdorp-Vogelaar, Professor of Decision Modelling of Screening, Erasmus MC, Rotterdam
- Prof. G.A. Meijer, Professor of Oncological Pathology, Antoni van Leeuwenhoek, Amsterdam

Observers^a

- P.J. ten Broeke, Ministry for Health, Welfare and Sport, The Hague
- M.G. Kleefkens, LLM, Ministry for Health, Welfare and Sport, The Hague
- drs. R.H. Thöene, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Bilthoven
- I. Seriese, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Centre for Population Screening, Bilthoven
- M. van Wieren, National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Centre for Population Screening, Bilthoven

Scientific secretaries

- Dr. J. van der Berg, Health Council of the Netherlands, The Hague
- Dr. C.A. Aitken, Health Council of the Netherlands, The Hague
- ^a Consulted experts are consulted by the committee because of their expertise. Consulted experts and observers are entitled to speak during the meeting. They do not have any voting rights and do not bear any responsibility for the content of the committee's advisory report.



The Health Council of the Netherlands, established in 1902, is an independent scientific advisory body. Its remit is "to advise the government and Parliament on the current level of knowledge with respect to public health issues and health (services) research..." (Section 22, Health Act). The Health Council receives most requests for advice from the Ministers of Health, Welfare and Sport, Infrastructure and Water Management, Social Affairs and Employment, and Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality. The Council can publish advisory reports on its own initiative. It usually does this in order to ask attention for developments or trends that are thought to be relevant to government policy.

Most Health Council reports are prepared by multidisciplinary committees of Dutch or, sometimes, foreign experts, appointed in a personal capacity. The reports are available to the public.

This publication can be downloaded from www.healthcouncil.nl.

Preferred citation:

Health Council of the Netherlands. Evaluation and optimisation of the colorectal cancer screening programme. The Hague: Health Council of the Netherlands, 2022; publication no. 2022/31e.

All rights reserved

